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ST MARY MAGDALENE'S CHAPEL, LIDSING 

ALAN WARD 

The site of St Mary Magdalene's Chapel, Lidsing (pronounced 
Lidsin) is today overgrown with trees and scrub. This structure, situ-
ated at Ordnance Survey grid reference TQ 7911 6324, was similar in 
size and probably of much the same date as the chapels at Dode and 
Paddlesworth. 

The chapel was sited at the head of what is today a dry valley and 
overlooks the Hempstead Valley 'Sava Centre'. The soil on this part 
of the dip slope of the North Downs is for the most part clay-with-
flint and would be very hard for a community of the medieval period, 
or earlier, to plough. The area was perhaps primarily coppice wood-
land and pannage for pigs. (Hasted's map shows extensive woodland 
near the chapel - Fig. 1). In the medieval period it seems likely that 
this shallow valley would have contained a spring-fed stream. Until 
the nineteenth century the Luton Brook flowed from a point about 
two miles further down this valley, and still flows below 'The Brook' 
at Chatham today. The presence of a good permanent water source 
was always one of the pre-requisites for the development of a settle-
ment. If permanent surface water did not exist then a settlement (what-
ever the period) would almost certainly never start at a specific place. 
It has been suggested that the water table below the South Downs has 
dropped by as much as 30m in the last hundred years, due mainly to 
increased demand (Jacobi 1978, 77). There is no reason to believe 
that the natural reserves of water below the North Downs have had 
any less demand put upon them. 

It seems likely that this 'chapel-of-ease'1 was founded close to a 
permanent water source and served the dispersed population of the 
surrounding area, who lived up to four miles away from the parish 
church of Gillingham. In the late medieval period (and no doubt both 
earlier and later) some of the parishioners from that part of Boxley 
parish situated on the dip slope of the North Downs also seem to have 
used this chapel (see list of offerings below). This would of course 
mean they would not have to undertake the journey down and then 
back up Boxley Hill. 
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Fig. 1 The Manor of Gillingham in 1789 (extract from Hasted's map of the 
Hundreds of Hoo; Chatham and Gillingham) showing Lidsing in the 

south-east corner. 
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According to popular tradition the hamlet of Lidsing lost its 
population because of the Black Death 1348-50 and subsequent out-
breaks of bubonic plague. This may be true, but perhaps not in the 
accepted sense. The twelfth and much of the thirteenth century had 
seen population expansion onto marginal agricultural land. It had to 
be farmed to feed the excess population. The clay-with-flint deposits 
would have been marginal from a purely agriculture point of view and 
the population of Lidsing was probably by necessity well scattered. It 
is conceivable that such a population might stand more chance of 
surviving an outbreak of plague. Those who did survive would find 
that more fertile plots were readily available and consequently the 
population of the hamlet may have been reduced as much by move-
ment as by death. An intensive study of the considerable number of 
medieval documents relating to Lidsing and adjacent areas (Bred-
hurst, Hempstead, and Walderslade, with the significant place name 
of Tunbury2 nearby) might show whether or not this scenario is true. 
That the medieval chapel was still in use in the sixteenth century 
shows that there was sufficient local population, despite the ravages 
of the late fourteenth and fifteenth century plague outbreaks, to keep 
the structure in being. 

Documentary Evidence 

As with the majority of medieval buildings the primary documentary 
references that survive only give us a glimpse of the development of 
this structure. However, in one respect we are extremely lucky for a 
plan was made perhaps several decades before the chapel was demol-
ished in the 1880s. This plan, drawn at a scale of 1:48, is annotated 
with measurements and shows the position of the pews within the 
nave (Medway Archive Office Document P153C 3/2). 

Medieval documents relating to the chapel itself are, of course, few 
and far between, but it is mentioned in the Textus Roffensis of c. 1110 
(Ward 1932, 53). Whilst Gordon Ward (no relation) implies that most 
of the structures mentioned within this important collection of docu-
ments will be of Anglo-Saxon date, we should be more circumspect. 
A pre-Conquest date would be possible, but there was more than 
sufficient time between 1066 and c. 1110 for the establishment of en-
tirely new structures, and indeed settlements. Even if the list of 
churches mentioned in the Textus was drawn up in 1077, as Gordon 
Ward favours, there had still been (Just) enough time for an entirely 
Norman creation. Whilst we would all want an Anglo-Saxon origin 
for Lidsing (or indeed any other church) we should be careful about 
assigning a pre-Conquest date unless there is conclusive physical or 
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documentary evidence. There is perhaps slight evidence to suggest 
the chapel was in fact early Norman (see below). 

Henry I (1100-1135) apparently gave the chapel along with its 
mother church at Gillingham to Minster-in-Sheppey Abbey (Coles 
Finch 1925, 256). Thereafter the chapel seems not to be mentioned 
again until 1448 when it appears in a rental (Rogers c. 1947, 105, 
quoting British Museum Additional MSS 33902 Vol. xxv). It is then 
mentioned in several wills and other documents of the late fifteenth 
and early sixteenth centuries: 

a) 1498 Thomas Strete of Boxley gave 20d to the High Altar at Liggying. 
b) 1500 Joan Busshe of Boxley gave 20d for repairs at Lydsing church. 
c) 1505 Isabella Clifford of Newington-next-Sittingbourne gave 8d to the 

chapel at Leghing. 
d) 1526 Thomas Taunton of Bredhurst gave 3s 4d. 
e) 1530 John Kemsley of Gillingham gave 'ten owyes there to remaye for 

euer to the most p'ffitt of the chapel' at Leggyn. 
f) 1530 John Kemsley 5s 7d for gilding and painting the chapel at Liggyn. 

(a-d, Hussey 1911, 237-8; e-f, Duncan 1898, 143-4) 

All the tithes of the hamlet of Lidzying were awarded to the chapel 
and in a Parliamentary Survey of 1647 were valued at £25 per year 
(Hasted 1972, 243). Of greater interest (and certainly more entertain-
ment value) a petition to the House of Commons dating to 1642 com-
plained that the vicar, Richard Tracey of Boxley, had not preached 
nor undertaken divine service at the chapel for twenty weeks (Bald-
win 1998, 152). For three years he had not administered the sacra-
ment nor sent a curate in his place. It was also alleged the vicar had 
hit the clerk of Bredhurst. In his defence the vicar alleged that the pet-
ition was invalid as one of the petitioners, William Kemsley, was blind 
drunk at the time of signing and by implication two others, Moses 
Long and John Paine, who signed it in an ale house, were in a similar 
state. A fourth petitioner had been bribed by the promise of having a 
house built! The vicar admitted striking the clerk but only because the 
latter was drunk and had fallen asleep during a church service. The 
vicar survived these particular complaints but was removed (as with 
many others) during the Commonwealth. 

By 1718 the church had supposedly become derelict. In that year an 
account was written which tells us that the church was overgrown 
with ivy, that there were no gravestones nor inscriptions and that the 
font had gone, there being only a pedestal at the west end where it had 
once stood. There were no bells 'nor nay place to hang them' (Rogers 
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c. 1947, 105). However, the account whilst implying a sorry state of 
affairs is not actually stating the church is derelict or out of use. The 
church, not ruins, is stated as being overgrown with ivy, the lack of 
grave markers could indicate the poverty of the rural inhabitants and 
the moveable items had possibly been stolen, which of course is why 
most churches today have to be kept locked! 

The situation certainly improved whilst the Revd John Jenkinson 
was the Vicar of Gillingham (1753-87). The east end was rebuilt in 
brick at his own expense (Hasted, 243; Coles Finch 1925, 256). As 
the word 'rebuilt' is used it is safe to assume there was an earlier stone 
chancel. However, amongst the entries within the Churchwardens 
account book, which survives from 1727-1775 (MAOD P153C 5/1; 
Rogers c. 1947', 130-1), it can be seen that this process of improve-
ment had begun earlier. The thirteen ratepayers of the middle decades 
of the eighteenth century paid for the following: 

1727. 'Going the bounds' the sum of 5 shillings; for mending the 'cappel' 
yard 1/6; for two hedgehogs 8d. 

1735. Paid to the Chapel Warden, Thomas Sawyer: for mending the chapel 
door 21- and six foxes heads 6/-. 

1737. Mending the windows; hedging the churchyard. 
1739. Paid to the Chapel Warden, William Broad for: mending the windows 

11-; for washing the 'surples' 2/6; for a polecats head 4d; [and enigmati-
cally] paid for a warning 4/-. 

1746. Mending the windows. 
1752. Mending the chapel and going to the bounds. 

There is enough detail within these documents (MAOD P153C 5/1) to 
tell us that the chapel was still in use, certainly from 1735, and 
perhaps had never been totally abandoned prior to the Revd 
Jenkinson taking up office. However, once he becomes vicar the 
extent of repair work definitely seems to have increased (and perhaps 
included the repairs of 1752): 

1756, 1758 and 1762. Repairing the windows (this was obviously a recur-
ring problem; was this due to eighteenth century vandalism?). 

1760. Ironwork for the chapel gate. 
1766. Bricklayers, carpenters, blacksmiths (and 'shearslayers'?) were at 

work, perhaps indicating the time of the rebuilding of the chancel. 
The chapel door locks were also mended. 

1769. 1771, 1775. Bricklayers. 
1770. Carpenters and bricklayers. 
1771. Chapel wood felled. 
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1774. Repairing lights. (In view of the previous use of the word 'windows', 
the 'lights' are possibly lamps within the church rather than referring to 
the architectural sense of the word.) 

However, ratepayers expenditure was primarily for paying the clerk's 
wages, court fees, visitation expenses, vestments, brushing the chapel 
yard and rewards for the catching of vermin, which included sparrows 
as well as the hedgehogs, polecats and foxes mentioned above. For foxes 
(and badgers) only heads had to be produced to collect a bounty.' 

By Hasted's day there was only one service a month for the six 
houses within the district. However a bell turret was added at a date 
after 1821 (Coles Finch 1925, 256) and it would seem that there was 
still sufficient income for the chapel to be kept in good repair. The 
bell turret is not shown on the attractive 'idyllic' drawing of the chapel 
from the Gentleman's Magazine of 1820 (Plate I). Two mid-nine-
teenth century paintings by Henry Hill exist within the local study 
collection at Gillingham Library. They differ slightly from one an-
other, and from the other surviving illustrations, but we must allow 
for artistic licence. 
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The most often published and earliest detailed representation of the 
chapel from the Gentleman's Magazine of 1820. Note there is no bell 

turret; the south door looks as if it is 'Early English Gothic' in date. 
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The chapel on the day prior to demolition, photographed by Henry Hill who 
also painted two pictures (now in the local study archive at Gillingham Li-
brary). The two paintings show the chapel much as it was in I 820 but with the 
addition of the bell turret. Both the nave windows have brick surrounds. A 
collar is just visible along with what is believed to be a side purlin supporting 
the rafters on the south. In Plate III the corresponding side purlin on the north 
unfortunately cannot be seen. Above the door there may be indications of a 

Romanesque arch. 

Three illustrations of the chapel (Plates II, III and IV) made 
immediately prior to its demolition show that the roof had gaping 
holes and that the bell turret had collapsed. When the chapel was 
demolished the bell was removed to an engineering works in 
Chatham for use as a time toll for the workmen (Coles Finch 1925, 
257) although Ron Baldwin states R. D. Batchelor of Darland Farm4 

used it. The door was removed to Restoration House. Rochester, at 
that time owned by Stephen Thomas Aveling, local engineer and 
collector. 

According to the faculty for demolition dated to the 3rd April 1883 
the chapel was ancient and ruinous, partly unroofed and open to the 
wind and weather:5 the building was 'deemed dangerous to human 
life especially of the children who play within and near the building' 
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The north side of the chapel. There may be faint traces of a blocked 
window arch in the north wall of the chancel. The east wall as rebuilt 
in the mid-eighteenth century has a hipped roof rather than a more 
normal gable, the latter may of course have existed prior to that date. 

(MAOD P153C 3/3). Permission for demolition was therefore given. 
The materials were to be sold off, any surplus money for this sale was 
'to be expended on repair of the walls and fences of the graveyard and 
the decent preservation of such ground' .6 Divine service by this time 
had been discontinued and the thirty-five inhabitants of Lydsing had 
not elected a churchwarden for many years. However, Coles Finch 
implies that he had met parishioners who had worshipped in the 
chapel even when well-decayed, for he tells us that the rain fell upon 
their heads during the sermons (1925, 256). 

According to Coles Finch the parish chest had been broken into and 
its papers dispersed, and no doubt used to kindle the fires lit within 
the chancel by children and wayfarers. It is perhaps surprising that 
any of the parish documents survive. Interestingly Coles Finch gives 
the date for the demolition of the chapel as 1886, after having been 
partially destroyed by fire, rather than 1884 as implied by Rogers, or 
1883 as stated by John Guy (1981). The faculty probably gave 
permission for demolition to take place but it was probably not 
actually carried out until slightly later. 
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PLATE IV 
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The derelict chapel from the south. The brickwork of the two eastern 
buttresses and the east wall can definitely be seen. There is no sign of 

any blocked windows in the south wall of the chancel. 

Archaeological Information 

Settlement in the Lidsing area may be of earlier origin for a pagan 
Anglo-Saxon burial was found in 1881 within Little Knock Wood and 
reported to George Payne (1888, 149). This burial was about a metre 
below the surface and produced pottery vessels and a bead necklace. 
It is assumed that the burial was found near Little Knox cottage, a 
quarter of a mile to the west of the chapel site. 

The important piece of information that there were large amounts of 
tufa used within the fabric of the chapel was recorded by C. S. Leeds 
(1906, 35). This apparently suggests an early Norman date (Livett 
1895, 266) which accords well with the first documentary evidence 
supplied by the Textus Roffensis. However, one of the paintings by 
Henry Hill may show a long and short quoin at the east end of the 
south wall. Such an architectural detail is, of course, usually regarded 
as being of Anglo-Saxon date. None of the other illustrations show 
the position in enough detail to clarify the point. However, even if 
Hill's painting is correct, such a building tradition could easily have 
lasted for a generation after 1066, especially in a rural area. Whilst 
the present writer favours an early Norman foundation it is obvious 
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that the precise date of the chapel is open to debate. Even complete 
excavation would be unlikely to clarify the matter. 

Hasted tells us that the chancel or east end was rebuilt in brick 
(1972, 243). However, Plate IV shows that it was only the east wall 
that was rebuilt in brick, along with the clasping buttresses, rather 
than the chancel as a whole. In their original colours the two paintings 
by Henry Hill give different information; one suggests brick, whilst 
the other seems to show stone. However, artistic licence can again 
easily account for this discrepancy. He also omits the two buttresses 
protruding from the east wall and instead shows a buttress formed by 
the east wall of the nave and south wall of the chancel. No other 
illustration shows the feature, and this also is regarded as artistic 
licence; possibly the paintings were made from rough sketches and 
memory. 

Interestingly there are no windows within either the south or north 
walls of the chancel and interior lighting would therefore have been 
necessary. However, Plate III may show very faintly a blocked win-
dow arch within the north wall. 

We know that there were no monuments within the church immed-
iately prior to demolition (MAOD P153C 3/3). Four gravestones are 
shown on the south side of the chapel on Henry Hill's paintings along 
with at least eight unmarked graves. In 1906 three readable grave-
stones remained. The best preserved was to Thomas Johnson son of 
William and Mary Johnson who died 10th August 1863 aged 43 years 
leaving a widow and four children. The remaining two gave less 
information, John Mills, d.1865 aged 33 years; George Jarret, d.1871 
aged 76 years (Leeds 1906, 35). Three stones were still visible in 
1919 (Baldwin 1998, 153). Coles Finch tells us that only two could be 
found with difficulty in his day, one dated to 1863, presumably that of 
Thomas Johnson and another to 1859 (1925, 257). These two stones 
were photographed c. 1927 by Ron Baldwin7 and were still visible as 
late as 1936 (Baldwin 1998, 153). One of these stones still stood until 
after the Second World War (Rogers c. 1947, 105) and the broken 
fragments may remain where they have fallen. Local rumour has it 
that several houses in Bredhurst have tombstones from the chapel site 
for their doorsteps and that the font is in use as a birdbath.8 Also, 
within the grounds of the (now demolished) old vicarage at Gill-
ingham a stone arch had been erected possibly with stone from the 
chapel.9 

The pointed doorway (Early English, or possibly 'Transitional') in 
the south wall of the nave appears to have been the only entrance into 
the chapel. We know that this door was removed to Restoration 
House, Rochester on demolition (Coles Finch 1925, 257) and was 
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apparently erected within the garden (Baldwin 1998, 152). What may 
be the jambs and arch of an (?inserted) stone door still survive within 
the house itself and could conceivably be that from the chapel. 

In the early 1960s an enthusiastic group of young archaeologists 
from the local Walderslade Boy's School uncovered parts of the walls 
of the demolished church.10 In 1981 members of the Lower Medway 
Archaeological Research Group, at the instigation of the present 
writer, undertook field walking on the chapel site and the periphery of 
the adjacent field. Other than one fragment of Roman pottery only 
post-medieval sherds were recovered from the field. The late pottery 
is probably the residue of 'muck' spreading, perhaps from the small-
holding that once stood 200m to the west. Within Chapel Woods the 
north-east corner of the chancel and buttress were visible at ground 
level and the east wall of the chancel was traced for a length of over 
five metres by removal of the accumulated leaf mould. The mortar 
bonding the flintwork of the east and north wall contained large 
numbers of cockleshells. The brick buttress was not bonded to the 
north wall thereby implying a later addition. The flint courses 
observed were probably of medieval date, although that does not 
preclude the walls having been rebuilt in the eighteenth century at a 
higher level. Demolition debris of broken peg tiles was noted at the 
west end of the chapel. There is every reason to believe that the 
lowest course of the walls and presumably the floor deposits will sur-
vive in relatively good condition, although tree roots will have 
caused some disturbance. 

A bank and ditch were noted to the south of the chapel and perhaps 
formed part of the churchyard perimeter. Various maps of the eight-
eenth and nineteenth century show several buildings in the immediate 
area and it might be possible for archaeological excavation to re-
cover their remains. 

The old Gillingham Borough Council was very much aware of the 
local interest of this archaeological site." If redevelopment should 
ever take place in the locality around and on the chapel site it is to be 
hoped that archaeological excavations will precede the work. The 
remains of the chapel itself could, and perhaps should, be cleared and 
consolidated for public view and the churchyard and adjacent wood-
land tidied up and made into a conservation area. This could be done 
without disturbing any burials. The remains of any grave-markers or 
other artefacts could perhaps be safely displayed within cabinets in 
the 'Sava Centre'. 

Comparisons with the chapels at Dode and Paddlesworth 

Lidsing chapel was similar in size and probably of much the same 
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The north side of Paddlesworth Chapel. The north door is the only entrance 
and probably faced the predecessor to the still standing late medieval and 
post-medieval timber framed farmhouse allowing easier access for the 

lord, family and servants. 

date as those at Dode and Paddlesworth, 7-8 miles away across the 
Medway valley (Plates V and VI). A comparative plan shows the 
three chapels drawn to the same scale (Fig. 2). Lidsing chapel was 
described as 'being of little beauty and of no architectural 
pretensions' (Leeds 1906, 35), but if, as the present writer suspects, 
it was similar to these two wonderful little buildings that statement 
(to say the least) is rather hard. Whilst most parish churches have 
seen many additions these three chapels are, or in Lidsing's case 
would have been, little altered from when they were first constructed 
and thus provide detail which does not usually survive. The loss of 
Lidsing lessens the amount of material available upon which valid 
'compare and contrast' interpretations can be made. 

The chapels at Dode and Paddlesworth are now well maintained 
and lovingly looked after and on occasion open to the public, but even 
a walk around their exterior is well worthwhile. Both chapels may 
well have been for the use of dispersed populations although perhaps 
with Paddlesworth (mentioned in Domesday Book 1086) the pres-
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LIDSING East wall rebuilt and buttresses 
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7 t r- L? 
A buttress is shown at this position on 
Henry Hill's paintings. He omits those 

protruding from the east wall of the chancel. 

Fig. 2. Comparative plans drawn at the same scale. 
(The plans of Dode and Paddlesworth have been adapted from 

Livett's article of 1895, and Lidsing has been adapted from 
Medway Archive Offices Document P153C 3/2) 
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PLATE VI 

-

» 

The north side of Dode Chapel. The building has been constructed on a 
terrace cut into the side of the hill slope. 

ence of an impressive post-medieval structure nearby might imply 
that this chapel was originally the private chapel of the lord of the 
manor. Both chapels have tufa within their fabric and were regarded 
by Grevile Livett as being of early Norman date. As far as the present 
writer is aware there is no detailed, accurate modern guide-book to 
either building and Livett's late nineteenth-century account in Arch-
aeologia Cantiana remains the best available. 
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NOTES 

1 First so described in 1782 (Baldwin 1998, 152 quoting John Thorpe). The Concise 
Oxford Dictionary (1995) definition of this phrase is 'an Anglican chapel (built) for 
the convenience of remote parishioners'. As the Anglican Church didn't actually exist 
when the chapel was first built this definition is technically not correct. In practice of 
course the meaning remains valid. 

If taken at face value the word Tunbury should indicate 'the settlement around the 
fortified place or manor house'. It is perhaps notable that Lordswood is also a 
prominent local place name. 

If this unfriendly environmental outlook was taking place over the whole country it 
is surprising we have any wildlife left. 

According to Geoffrey Hulton the bell was installed in Chatham Dockyard where it 
was used to call the men to work. The custom went out of use in the Second World War 
but was in use again in 1989 to mark the opening and closing of the Dockyard each day 
(Hulton 1993, 29). To the present writer it seems more probable that a local farmer 
would obtain the bell rather than a national Dockyard. 

Phillip Rogers states an 'Order in Council' dated 14th April 1884 authorised 
demolition; (p. 105), but this document has not been traced. 

This would imply that if there were no surplus, the funds for upkeep of the graveyard 
would have to be found from elsewhere. An interesting philosophical, ethical and 
possibly legal point then of course arises. It is possible that the 'decent preservation of 
the graveyard' should still be taking place. Needless to say the area has been used to 
dump rubbish although this has now been largely prevented by the closure of Chapel 
Lane and the site becoming overgrown. 

The writer's thanks to Ron Baldwin of Gillingham for supplying copies of the 
photographs, but as they show little detail they are not reproduced here. 

The writer's thanks to Jane Marvell of Hempstead for this information. 
The writer's thanks to Jane Marvell, quoting a letter sent to her by David Murr of 

Gillingham, for this information. 
The writer's thanks to Keith Gulvin for this information. 

1 Personal communication: letter dated 4 July 1990. 
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